
 

 

 

 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
2.00 PM - TUESDAY, 16 JANUARY 2018 

 
COMMITTEE ROOMS 1/2 - PORT TALBOT CIVIC CENTRE 

 

 
 PART 1 

 
1.  To receive any declarations of interest from Members.   

 
2.  To receive the Minutes of the previous meeting held on 12 

December, 2017  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 

3.  To Request Site Visit(s) from the Applications Presented   
 

 Report of the Head of Planning and Public Protection 
 

 Section A - Matters for Decision 
 

 Planning Applications Following Member's Site Visit Leaving 
Port Talbot Civic Centre at 11.30am - Recommended For 
Approval 

 
4.  Application No: P2017/1094  (Pages 9 - 44) 

4 detached split level dwellings, associated parking and 
engineering works, at land off, Tabernacle Terrace, Cwmavon, Port 
Talbot, SA12 9HS. 
 

 Section B - Matters for Information 
 

5.  Delegated Applications Determined between 5 December 2017 and 
8 January 2018  (Pages 45 - 58) 
 

6.  Appeals Received  (Pages 59 - 60) 
 

7.  Appeals Determined  (Pages 61 - 68) 

AGENDA 



 
8.  Any urgent items at the discretion of the Chairman pursuant to 

Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972.   
 

 
S.Phillips 

Chief Executive 
 

Civic Centre 
Port Talbot Wednesday, 10 January 2018 
 
 



 
 
Committee Membership:  
 
Chairperson: Councillor S.Paddison 

 
Vice 
Chairperson: 
 

Councillor H.N.James 
 

Members: 
 

Councillors A.R.Aubrey, S.Bamsey, R.Davies, 
W.F.Griffiths, S.K.Hunt, C.J.Jones, R.Thomas, 
S.Pursey, A.McGrath and C.Galsworthy 
 

Cabinet 
UDP/LDP 
Member: 

Councillor A.Wingrave     

 
Requesting to Speak at Planning Committee 
 
The public have a right to attend the meeting and address the Committee 
in accordance with the Council’s approved procedure which is available at 
www.npt.gov.uk/planning. 
If you would like to speak at Planning Committee on an application 
reported to this Committee you must: 
 

 Contact Democratic Services in writing at : Civic Centre, Port Talbot 
SA13 1PJ, preferably by email: democratic.services@npt.gov.uk.  

 Ensure your request to speak is made no later than two working 
days prior to the meeting date (by 2 pm on the preceding Friday 
based on a usual Tuesday meeting),  

 Clearly indicate the item number or application number on which 
you wish to speak and confirm whether you are supporting or 
objecting to the application. 

 Give your name and address (which will be publicly available unless 
there are particular reasons for confidentiality) 

 
Please note that only one person is able to speak in favour of, and one 
against, each application.  Full details are available in the Council’s 
approved procedure. 
 
Should you wish to discuss any aspect of public speaking, please contact 
the Democratic Services Team on 01639 763719. 
 

http://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/procedure_note_for_new_%20planning_cttee_arrangments_final_version.pdf
http://www.npt.gov.uk/planning
mailto:democratic.services@npt.gov.uk
http://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/procedure_note_for_new_%20planning_cttee_arrangments_final_version.pdf
http://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/procedure_note_for_new_%20planning_cttee_arrangments_final_version.pdf


 
 
Applicant / Agent Right of Reply  
 
Please note that, should an objector register to speak, the Applicant/Agent 
will be notified by the Council of their ability to address committee (their 
‘right to reply’). Should the applicant/agent wish to exercise that right, it 
will be necessary to confirm this to the Democratic Services section before 
noon on the day before the meeting. 
 

Commenting on planning applications which are to be reported to 
Committee 

Should you wish to submit representations on an application presented to 
this Planning Committee, please note that these must be received by the 
Planning department no later than 4.30p.m. on the Friday before 
Committee (based on the usual Tuesday meeting).  If the meeting is not 
on a Tuesday, these should be received no later than 4.30pm on the 
penultimate working day immediately preceding the Planning Committee.  

Please note that representations received in accordance with the 
Council’s protocol are summarised and, where necessary, commented 
upon in the form of an Amendment Sheet, which is circulated to Members 
of the Planning Committee by email on the evening before Committee, 
and presented in hard copy form at the actual meeting. 

 
 



- 26 - 
 

121217 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Members Present:  12 December, 2017 
 
 
Chairperson: 
 

Councillor S.Paddison 
 

Councillors: 
 

A.R.Aubrey, S.Bamsey, R.Davies, S.K.Hunt, 
C.J.Jones, R.Thomas, S.Pursey, A.McGrath 
and C.Galsworthy 
 

Local Member: Councillor A.P.H.Davies 
 

Officers In 
Attendance: 
 

S.Ball, S.Evans, J.Griffiths and T.Davies 
 

 

 
1. MEMBER'S DECLARATION  

 
The following Member made a declaration at the commencement of 
the meeting:- 
 
Councillor A.Aubrey Application No. P2017/0942 – Variation of 

Condition 4 of Planning Permission 
P2011/0136 to allow for the processing of 
waste materials within the existing RRF 
building on a 24 hour, 7 days a week basis, 
at Derwen Plant Ltd Neath Abbey Wharf, 
Neath Abbey Wharf Access Road, Skewen, 
Neath SA10 6BL, as she had personally 
objected to the Application during the 
consultation period. 
 
 

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 21 
NOVEMBER, 2017  
 

RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the Planning Committee 
held on the 21 November 2017, as circulated, 
be confirmed as a true record. 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



- 27 - 
 

121217 

3. SITE VISITS  
 
RESOLVED: That no site visits be held on the applications 

before Committee today. 
 
 

4. APPLICATION NO: P2017/0835  
 
(Note: An amendment sheet in relation to Application Number: 
P2017/0835 was circulated prior to the meeting, on which the 
Chairperson had allowed sufficient time for Members to read, in 
respect of application item on the published agenda, the Chairperson 
had permitted urgent circulation/consideration thereof at today’s 
meeting, the particular reasons and circumstances being not to further 
delay the planning process, unless the Committee itself wanted to 
defer any applications and to ensure that Members take all extra 
relevant information into account before coming to any decision at the 
meeting).  
  
Officers made a presentation to the Planning Committee on this 
Application (reserved matters application for 34 dwellings including 
details in respect of conditions 4 (drainage), 6 (construction method 
statement), 10 (public open space) and 11 (affordable housing) 
pursuant to outline planning permission P2013/0038 allowed at appeal 
(reference: APP/Y6930/A/14/2218029) on 21.08.15 (Request to 
discharge condition 7 (contamination) withdrawn on 29.11.17) at 
Alltwen Industrial Estate, Lon Hir, Alltwen, Pontardawe SA8 3DE) as 
detailed in the circulated report. 
 
RESOLVED: That in accordance with Officers’ 

recommendations, Application P2017/0835 be 
approved subject to the Conditions as detailed 
within the circulated report 

  
 

5. APPLICATION NO: P2017/0942  
 
(Councillor A.Aubrey reaffirmed her interest in this item and withdrew 
from the meeting at this point, and the discussion and voting 
thereon.) 
 
(Note: An amendment sheet in relation to Application Number: 
P2017/0835 was circulated prior to the meeting, on which the 
Chairperson had allowed sufficient time for Members to read, in 

Page 6



- 28 - 
 

121217 

respect of application item on the published agenda, the Chairperson 
had permitted urgent circulation/consideration thereof at today’s 
meeting, the particular reasons and circumstances being not to 
further delay the planning process, unless the Committee itself 
wanted to defer any applications and to ensure that Members take all 
extra relevant information into account before coming to any decision 
at the meeting).  
  
Officers made a presentation to the Planning Committee on this 
Application (Variation of Condition 4 of Planning Permission 
P2011/0136 to allow for the processing of waste materials within the 
existing RRF building on a 24 hour, 7 days a week basis, D at 
Derwen Plant Ltd Neath Abbey Wharf, Neath Abbey Wharf Access 
Road, Skewen, Neath SA10 6BL) as detailed in the circulated report. 
 
The Local Member, Councillor A.P.H.Davies, addressed the 
Committee. 
 
RESOLVED: (1) That in accordance with Officers’ 

recommendations, Application P2017/0942 be 
approved subject to the Conditions as detailed 
within the circulated report; 

 
 (2) That in the event of an application being 

received to extend the 12 month temporary 
extension to working hours, a further report be 
brought before this Committee for decision. 

 
 

6. DELEGATED APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BETWEEN 14 
NOVEMBER 2017 AND 4 DECEMBER 2017  
 
(At this point, Councillor A.Aubrey re-joined the meeting.) 
 
Members received a list of Planning Applications which had been 
determined between 14 November and 4 December 2017, as 
detailed within the circulated report. 
 
RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



- 29 - 
 

121217 

 
7. APPEAL RECEIVED  

 
RESOLVED: That the following Planning Appeal received be 

noted as detailed in the circulated report. 
 
 Appeal Ref:  A2017/0015 

  

Single storey front extension, at Bryn Heulog 
House, Main Road, Dyffryn Cellwen, Neath. 

 
 
 
 
 

CHAIRPERSON 

Page 8



SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION 
 
Planning Applications Recommended For Approval Following 
Members’ Site Visit 

 

APPLICATION NO: P2017/1094 DATE: 28/11/2017 
PROPOSAL: 4 detached split level dwellings, associated parking and 

engineering works. 
LOCATION: Land off, Tabernacle Terrace, Cwmavon, Port Talbot 

SA12 9HS 
APPLICANT: Mr Wynne/ Ryan Edwards 
TYPE: Full Plans 
WARD: Bryn & Cwmavon 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Application ref. P2017/0749 (prior to its withdrawal) was called into 
Planning Committee by Ward Members Cllr David Whitelock, Cllr 
Rhidian Mizen stating the following grounds: 
 

• The impact it will have on the services in the village and in 
particular the road network.  

• One of the proposed access routes crosses a widely used footpath 
both by children going to and from school also elderly residents 
going to the shops. 

• The new development will be overlooking existing properties with 
the new houses having a clear view into the gardens directly 
below. 
 

At that time, the Committee Call-In Panel met and agreed that that 
application should be brought to Committee on such grounds. The Call-
In Panel also agreed to the Ward Councillors’ request that a Members’ 
Site Visit be held on such grounds.   
 
The current application is almost identical to the earlier application, other 
than the submitted plans having been redrawn to ensure they accurately 
reflect the size of the site and relationship with nearby properties.  
Having regard to the above, this application has been reported to 
Members on the above grounds, and also a Members’ site visit will be 
held on the morning of Committee. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



SITE AND CONTEXT 
 
The site is a vacant brownfield site (shown on plan 1 below) which 
historic records show was once a garage however this has long been 
demolished.  The site has recently been cleared of scrub and vegetation.  
 
Plan 1: Plan showing location of application site 

 
 
The site is triangular in shape with an area of 0.18 hectares, the site is 
bounded to the North West by Tabernacle Terrace (front) and to the rear 
is Ty’r Owen Terrace and Old Market place to the rear.  The northern 
boundary of the site does not extend up to the steps and footpath which 
leads down from Tabernacle Terrace towards the school. The 13m strip 
of land between the site and the steps is unregistered land. 
 
The site is located within a predominantly residential area with 
residential dwellings to the front and rear, albeit with Tabernacle Chapel 
located to the north of the site. The site has an existing access onto 
Tabernacle Terrace. 
 

Page 10



In terms of topography the site slopes from Tabernacle Terrace down 
towards the rear at Tyr Owen Row, with a level difference of 
approximately 4m from Tabernacle Terrace to the lane at the rear of the 
site. There is an existing retaining wall along this lane at the rear of the 
site which varies in height but is approximately 2m in height 
 
The site is considered to be in a very sustainable location, within 100 
metres of a bus stop, school, church, a variety of shops and other 
community facilities. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
This is a full application for the development of the site to accommodate 
4 no. detached split level residential dwellings, parking and associated 
engineering works.  
 
Each dwelling will appear single storey when viewed from Tabernacle 
Terrace and 2 storeys from the rear. The upper floor will have 3 
bedrooms and a bathroom; the lower ground floor will have a kitchen, 
living room bathroom and utility room. Each dwelling will be provided 
with 3 off street parking spaces with plots 1, 2 and 3 each having 
driveway access off Tabernacle Terrace. Plot 4 will utilise the existing 
access off Tabernacle Terrace, with a parking and turning area provided 
to ensure that access/egress to that plot will be in a forward gear. 
 
Externally the dwellings will have pitched roofs running parallel to the 
road and will be finished with concrete roof tiles and facing brick. Details 
of these materials can be imposed via a condition. 
 
Due to the sloping topography of the site the front of the site will include 
retaining structures in order to support the highway. No details have 
been submitted however a condition can be imposed to ensure these 
works are acceptable. 
 
To the rear of the site is an existing retaining wall, no details have yet 
been provided on this structure however a condition can be imposed to 
ensure this wall is structurally sound and ensure any works are 
acceptable. 
 
Each dwelling will have a small patio area accessed off the lower ground 
floor and a small private rear amenity area. To the front of plots 1 to 3 
will be a small front garden and parking spaces.  
 

Page 11



No details of landscaping have been provided however a condition can 
be imposed to ensure satisfactory landscaping is provided. 
 
All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be 
viewed on the Council’s online register.  
  
PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION / NEGOTIATIONS 
 
Officers have engaged in extensive pre-application discussions covering 
a number of planning issues including the principle of development, the 
layout, highway and pedestrian safety, parking requirements safety, 
drainage, the structural integrity of the existing retaining wall and 
calculation for the proposed retaining walls. 
 
Members should also note that the previous application was withdrawn 
to  allowed the applicant to provide more comprehensive information in 
relation to the site survey, existing and proposed levels, and siting of the 
dwelling.  
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The application site has the following relevant planning history: - 
 

• P1986/5661 Change of use from Building depot in 
accordance with class XV of the Town and 
Country Order - Approved 2/10/1986  
(note: use class XV was for clinics, Health 
Centres, Creches, day nurseries and 
consulting rooms) 

• P1990/7682 Residential Development for 8 dwellings 
Approved 31/05/1990 

• P2004/1653 Outline application for residential 
development Approved 01/02/2005 

• P2008/0115 Variation of condition 3 and 4 of planning 
application 04/1653 to extend the period for 
the submission of reserved matters. 
Approved 21/04/2008 

• P2017/0749 4 detached split level dwellings, associated 
parking and engineering works. 
Withdrawn 12 Sept 2017 

 

Page 12

http://appsportal.npt.gov.uk/ords/idocs12/f?p=Planning:2:0::NO::P2_REFERENCE:P2017/1094


CONSULTATIONS 
 
Natural Resources Wales: No objection subject to conditions 
 
The Head of Engineering and Transport (Drainage): No objection 
subject to conditions 
 
The Head of Engineering and Transport (Highways):  No objection 
subject to conditions 
 
Biodiversity Officer: No objection subject to condition 
 
Welsh Water: No objection subject to condition 
 
Housing: Advised that a contribution should be secured towards the 
provision of affordable housing 
 
Coal Authority: No objection subject to condition 
 
Contaminated Land: No objection subject to conditions 
 
Estates Valuation Officer: Has advised that the scheme is not viable to 
provide a full contribution however a contribution of £14,500 could be 
sought. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The neighbouring properties were consulted on 4th December 2017, with 
a site notice also displayed on 4th December 2017.  
 
In addition to the concerns expressed by the three Ward Members, to 
date 2 neighbours have made representations on the current application.  
For the purpose of completeness,  the issues raised on both applications 
are summarised as follows: - 
 
Residential Amenity 
 

• Privacy, a neighbour (1 Tyr Owen) is concerned that their bedroom 
windows will be overlooked. 

• The development would permanently overshadow No 1 Tyr Owen 
 

Page 13



Highways and Pedestrian Safety 
• The area is already congested during school pick up and drops off 

times some of which park on Tabernacle Terrace. There is also a 
Church which not only has church services but also is used for 
band practice and other community uses. 

• Children have to walk on the road because cars are parked on the 
pavement 

• School Buses cannot traverse the street as they are packed with 
cars causing traffic jams 

• A concern has been raised that the 4 3-bedded homes could each 
have 4 cars meaning another 16 vehicles with already very limited 
alternative parking available in the area. 

• Concerns of cars accessing off Tabernacle Terrace including 
restricted views 

• If this application is approved would there be time limits on the 
construction/ delivery traffic entering the site as it is part of the 
main footpath leading to Cwmafan School which is a safe route. 

• Concerns that future occupiers  cars would not  always use the 
proposed parking  
 

Land contamination 
• A neighbour is concerned that radon gas would be released during 

construction and be a health risk. 
 

Retaining Wall 
• The retaining wall on the rear lane that support the rear of the 

development has bowed outwards and could collapse 
 

Drainage 
• There is already an issue with the sewers to the existing properties 

which Dwr Cymru are aware of. 
 

Other 
• In the planning application there are two reports that only mention 

1 property being built 
• The applicant has stated as the trees and hedgerows have been 

cut down as such the applicant has started. 
• Having looked at the planning application it states that there will be 

no vehicular access from tabernacle terrace or any application 
being made, yet on looking at the site today it looks as if a 
driveway is already being built to access the plot. 

 

Page 14



REPORT 
 
Planning Policies 
 
National Planning Policy: 
 
The main thrust of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, November 2016) is 
to promote sustainable development by ensuring the planning system 
can provide for an adequate and continuous supply of land, available 
and suitable for development to meet the needs of society that is 
consistent with the overall sustainability principles. 
 
In particular it seeks to promote resource efficient settlement patterns 
that minimise land take and urban sprawl, locate developments so as to 
minimise the demand for travel, ensure that all communities have good 
quality housing for their needs, promote access to shopping, education, 
employment, health, community, leisure and sports facilities and open 
space. 
 
Paragraph 9.3.1 states “New housing developments should be well 
integrated with and connected to the existing patterns of settlements.”  
 
Local Planning Authorities should ensure that the proposed 
developments should not have an unacceptable impact upon the 
character and amenity of an area. Sites with higher densities can help to 
conserve land resources, and adverse effects can be overcome by 
sensitive design and good landscaping.  
 
Further advice contained in paragraphs 9.3.3 and 9.3.4 warn that 
insensitive, infilling or the cumulative effects of development should not 
be allowed to damage an area’s character and amenity. In determining 
applications local planning authorities should ensure that the proposed 
development does not damage an areas character and amenity. 
 
The following Technical Advice Notes  are also of relevance:- 
 

• Technical Advice Note 2:  Planning and Affordable Housing (2006)  
• Technical Advice Note 5:Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 
• Technical Advice Note 11:  Noise (1997)  
• Technical Advice Note 12:  Design (2016)  
• Technical Advice Note 16:  Sport, Recreation and Open Space 

(2009)  
• Technical Advice Note 18:  Transport (2007)  

Page 15

http://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/ppw/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/tans/?lang=en


Local Planning Policies 
 
The Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan which was adopted in January 2016, and within 
which the following policies are of relevance: 
 
Strategic Policies 
 

• Policy SP1  Climate Change 
• Policy SP2  Health  
• Policy SP3  Sustainable communities 
• Policy SP4  Infrastructure 
• Policy SP8  Affordable Housing 
• Policy SP10 Open Space 
• Policy SP15 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
• Policy SP16  Environmental Protection 
• Policy SP20 Transport Network 
• Policy SP21  Built Environment and Historic Heritage 

 
Topic based Policy 
 

• Policy SC1 Settlement limits 
• Policy I1  Infrastructure Requirements 
• Policy AH1  Affordable Housing  
• Policy OS1  Open Space Provision  
• Policy EN7     Important Natural Features 
• Policy EN8     Pollution and Land Stability  
• Policy TR2  Design and Access of New Development  
• Policy BE1  Design  

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
 
The following SPG is of relevance to this application: - 
 

• Planning Obligations (October 2016) 
• Parking Standards (October 2016) 
• Affordable Housing (October 2016) 
• Open Space & Greenspace (July 2017) 
• Design (July 2017) 

 

Page 16

https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=35
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=35
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=37
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=41
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=56
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=59
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=72
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=74
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=83
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=38
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=39
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=57
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=60
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=73
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=74
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=84
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87
https://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/spg_planning_obligations_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/spg_parking_standards_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/spg_affordable_housing_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7239/spg_open_space_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7237/spg_design_july17.pdf


EIA and AA Screening  
 
The application site does not exceed the Schedule 2 threshold for 
development of this type as outlined within the Environmental Impact 
Assessment Regulations. As such the application has not been 
screened in accordance with the requirements of Schedule 3 of the 
Regulations.  
 
The proposed development is not located within a zone of influence for 
any SAC, CSAC or Ramsar sites and as such it is considered that an 
Appropriate Assessment as set down within the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2010 is not required.  
 
Issues 
 
The main issues in the consideration of the application are the principle 
of the proposed development having regard to Development Plan policy, 
along with the impact upon the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area, residential amenity, highway safety, drainage, land 
contamination and ecology. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The site is located within the residential settlement of Cwmavon as 
defined by Policy SC1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
Accordingly, the principle of the development of this previously-
developed / brownfield site is acceptable subject to an assessment of 
the acceptability in terms of other policies within the LDP, including the 
need for there to be no unacceptable issues with regard to visual 
amenity, residential amenity or highway and pedestrian safety. 
 
It is also pertinent for Members to note that this site (albeit slightly larger) 
has benefited from outline planning permission on 3 occasions, the most 
recent being granted in 2008 under the Unitary Development Plan.  
 
In 1990 outline permission was granted for up to 8 dwellings, with no 
specific restriction on numbers placed on the latter 2004 permission.  
The most recent 2008 consent included a condition restricting such 
development to a maximum of two properties, but the reason was 
because “the provision and requirement for affordable housing has not 
been addressed”, not because a greater number of dwellings would 
cause other harm. 
 

Page 17



It is noted that the current application is to be assessed against the 
Policies within the Local Development Plan, rather than the Unitary 
Development Plan which was in force in 2008.   Nevertheless, it is 
considered that the general development Policies within both the UDP 
and LDP had the same aims and objectives such that, having regard to 
the above historical planning consents at the site for residential 
redevelopment, it is not considered that there has been any material 
change in the direction of Policies governing such development that it 
would justify concluding other than that the principle of residential 
development remains acceptable. 
 
Density 
 
Policy BE1 (8a) of the adopted Local Development Plan states that 
‘normally a minimum of 35 dwellings per hectare in the Coastal Strategy 
Area or a minimum of 30 per hectare in the Valleys Strategy Area’ will be 
required. 
 
This site falls within the Coastal Strategy Area where a minimum of 35 
dwellings per hectare will be required. The site is approximately 0.18 
hectares in size and 4 residential units are proposed providing a density 
of 21 dwellings per hectare. While this is under the 30 units that would 
normally be required, in this case the site is constrained by the levels, 
the position of the existing dwellings and the existing retaining structure. 
As such it is considered that 4 dwellings on this site would make the best 
and most efficient use of the land available whilst also taking into 
account the character and appearance of the area. The proposal 
therefore complies with the density requirements of Policy BE1. 
 
Impact on Visual Amenity 
 
Having been cleared of previous structures many years ago (albeit with 
some demolition materials remaining), the vacant site is prominent on 
Tabernacle Terrace and in views from the southeast, notably Old Market 
Place. There are a variety of house styles within the immediate area, 
using a mix of designs and materials.  
 
The proposed development would consist of 4 split level dwellings that 
would appear one storey from Tabernacle Terrace and 2 storeys when 
viewed from the rear. The applicant has taken design steps to provide 
an attractive modern development that seeks to provide a fresh modern 
looking housing development. In addition to this, the house type / design 
makes good use of the topography of the site and, while different to the 

Page 18



traditional terrace on Tabernacle Terrace opposite, will nevertheless 
provide an attractive street frontage. A condition can be imposed to 
ensure sample of the proposed building materials are submitted to 
ensure they would be appropriate and provide an attractive 
development.  
 
In terms of the proposed retaining structures to the front of the site 
(Tabernacle Terrace), the majority of these would be in front of the 
dwellings beneath ground level and hidden from view, although there will 
be sections that can be seen (the wall to the rear of the driveways) which 
will be approximately 3.3m in height (at its highest); this will be 
sandwiched between the dwellings on between plots 2 and 3 and plot 1 
and 2. These would not be visible from Tabernacle Terrace and not 
overly prominent from the rear of the site. As such they would not 
unacceptably detract from the character and appearance of the area. 
 
No details of landscaping has been provided however there is scope to 
provide soft landscaping  on the rear strip, along the existing driveway 
and the front gardens of each dwelling. A condition can be imposed 
requiring details to be submitted. 
 
The North Eastern edge of the development adjoins a parcel of scrub 
land approximately 13m wide which is currently un-registered; this parcel 
of land is adjacent to the steps leading down to Old Market Place.  
Officers have noted that this land (which currently appears visually as 
part of the application site) includes building rubble which has over 
spilled from the part of the application site, along with an accumulation of 
rubbish which has built up over time. The section submitted show the 
intention for this area to be graded with no visible retaining structures 
from the steps to the North.  No details have been provided on how this 
area will be finished,  and it is acknowledged to be outside of the 
application site. Nevertheless it is considered that all existing demolition 
materials/ rubble from the application site must be removed also from 
that part of the land, as part of the development, and that responsibility 
for removal of material should ultimately lie with the adjacent site owner 
.In this regard, the applicant has confirmed a willingness to generally tidy 
up this parcel of land,  which would improve the public realm in the 
locality.  While this cannot be controlled by condition, nevertheless a 
condition is imposed requiring details of the northern boundary, which 
will enable this matter to be reviewed at that time. 
 
In terms of the existing retaining wall at the rear of the site – concerns 
having been expressed in representations - the condition of this has 

Page 19



been discussed with the applicant who subsequently commissioned 
SPR Hooper (Consulting Civil and Structural  Engineers) to assess the 
wall. The consultants  have advised that the wall is in a reasonably good 
condition, however some works are required such as removing 
vegetation and loose blocks from the head structure and clean out from 
the weep holes at the base. Pointing is also required to some small 
areas.  The Engineer has stated the site has been designed so that the 
foundations do not encroach within the angle of influence from the base 
of the retaining wall and as such does not increase the load currently 
supported by the wall. It is considered that a condition can be imposed 
to ensure the works recommended within the report are undertaken.   
 
Accordingly, subject to the conditions referred to above, it is considered 
that the proposed development by reason of its site, size and design 
would have no unacceptable detrimental impact upon the character or 
appearance of the surrounding area. 
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
Impact upon existing properties 
 
The impact upon residential amenity can be assessed the impact upon 
the following nearest residential properties:- 
 

• No. 1 Tyr Owen Road (across the lane to the South East) 
• No. 1 Old Market Place (adjacent to the site to the South East) 
• No’s 1-11 Tabernacle Terrace (across the road to the North West) 

 
These dwellings are identified on plan 2 below 
 

Page 20



Plan 2: Plan showing nearest residential dwellings 
 

 
 
1 Ty’r Owen Place  
 
This is an end of terrace dwelling, which consists of a main 2 storey 
block with a projecting 2 storey rear wing. There are no side facing 
windows in the main part of the house however there are side facing 
window on the 2 storey rear projection. The first floor window serves a 
bathroom and the ground floor window serves a kitchen. There is also a 
rear facing bedroom window on the main section of the dwelling and one 
on the rear elevation of the 2 storey projection. 
 
No. 1 Ty’r Owen is set at a lower level, to the South East of the 
application site. Between the application site and the No.1 is a lane 
which varies in width by approximately 3m to 4m. To the North of the 
lane is a retaining wall which varies in height between 2.4m and 3m 
high. The application site starts at this higher level and slopes upwards 
towards Tabernacle Terrace which is further to the North. 
 
In terms of overbearing and overshadowing impact, Plot 4 (the 
nearest dwelling) is between 5.4m and 7.4m to the South Eastern edge 
of the application site (the existing retaining wall). The rear elevation of 

Page 21



plot 4 is between 9.5m and 13.6m from the side elevations on No1. Plot 
4 is at a higher level however the submitted sections show the ridge 
level on the proposed dwelling only to be 2.3m higher than the ridge 
level of No1. It is considered that there is sufficient distance between 
these dwellings not to cause any unacceptable impact in relation to 
overbearing or overshadowing impact.  
 
In relation to Plot 3 is 12.3m at its closest)  and sits at a similar level to 
plot 4 again this distance, siting and design would ensure there would be 
no unacceptable impacts in relation to overbearing and overshadowing 
impact. 
 
In terms of overlooking and loss of privacy, as stated above the two 
side facing windows serve a bathroom and a kitchen and are not 
considered to be habitable, nevertheless this was discussed with the 
applicant who has chosen a triangular oriel type window on the upper 
floors of plots 3 and 4, this means the side of the window facing towards 
No 1 can be obscurely glazed and fixed shut, this would prevent any 
unacceptable overlooking from the habitable room windows and the side 
facing windows. Any views from the ground floor windows would be 
restricted by the 2.1m high rear boundary fence. 
 
The submitted sections (B-B) also show that any view from the raised 
patio and rear garden areas would be restricted by the fence (a condition 
can be imposed to ensure the fence is erected prior to the first beneficial 
use of the dwelling and thereafter retained). 
 
Plot 2 is the next nearest and does not have the oriel type window; 
however the distances between the first floor bedroom windows and the 
bedroom windows on No.1 are 20m and 29m. The Design SPG advices 
the distance between habitable rooms when the properties parallel to 
each other should be 21m, where properties are at an angle to each 
other, this distance can be reduced. In this case, the angle between the 
habitable room windows means that the separation distance between 
them could be reduced to 5m. As stated above the distances between 
the windows is way in excess of this and therefore considered to be 
acceptable. 
 
1 Old Market Place 
 
This is also an end of terrace dwelling which is 2 storeys in height. There 
are no side facing windows with habitable room windows front and rear 
facing.  Again this property is set at a lower level, although this site 

Page 22



immediately abuts the South East boundary of the application site (no 
lane). This boundary consists of a 2.5m high retaining wall. The level of 
the application starts at 2.5m higher and slopes upwards towards 
Tabernacle Terrace which is further to the North. 
 
In terms of overbearing and overshadowing impact, Plot 1 (the 
nearest dwelling) is between 9.7m and 11.1m to the South Eastern edge 
of the application site (the existing retaining wall).  The submitted 
sections (F-F) show the rear elevation of plot 1 is between 11.5m and 
13m from the side elevations on No1 Old Market Place. Plot 1 is at a 
higher level; the submitted sections show the ridge height of plot 1 to be 
3.8m higher than the existing dwelling, with the first floor level (42.7m) 
900mm lower than the ridge level of no. 1. It is considered that the 
separation distance will ensure there is no unacceptable impact in 
relation to overbearing and overshadowing impact.  
 
In relation to Plot 2, this is set further away than plot 1 and sits at a 
similar level. It is considered that the siting and design would ensure 
there would be no unacceptable impacts in relation to overbearing and 
overshadowing impact. 
 
In terms of overlooking and loss of privacy, as stated above habitable 
room windows are front and rear facing.  Therefore plot 1 would not 
have any direct view towards any habitable room window. 
 
Plot 2 is the next nearest and the distances between the first floor 
bedroom windows and the bedroom windows on No.1 is in excess of 
15m. These windows are at an angle to each other; as such the 
acceptable distance between them in accordance with the Design SPG 
could be reduced to 7m. As the distances between the windows are way 
in excess of this it is considered to be acceptable. Any views from the 
ground floor windows would be restricted by the 2.1m high rear 
boundary fence. 
 
The submitted sections (E-E and F-F) also show that any view from 
raised patio and rear garden area would be restricted by the fence (a 
condition can be imposed to ensure the fence is erected prior to the first 
beneficial use of the dwelling and thereafter retained. 
 

Page 23



1-11 Tabernacle Terrace 
 
This is a row of traditional looking terraced properties that sit 
approximately 1m to 500m higher than the road level. They each have a 
small front garden enclosed by small walls some with railings on top.  
 
The proposed dwellings are split level so from Tabernacle Terrace they 
would appear to be single storey. The distance between the proposed 
dwellings and the existing terrace varies between 16.5m to 21m, across 
the existing highway, with the new dwellings each having only a small 
bedroom and bathroom window.  It is therefore considered that whilst 
there will be some impact on these properties, this distance separation 
will ensure that there would be no unacceptable impacts on the 
properties on Tabernacle Terrace, either in terms of the physical impact 
of the development, or on overlooking / privacy grounds. 
 
To conclude it is considered that the proposed development would be 
acceptable and would not have any unacceptable impact upon the 
residential amenity of any nearby residential dwelling. To ensure this 
remains, permitted development rights can be removed for extensions 
and windows and outbuildings to ensure any future development is 
properly assessed and the impacts upon existing residents taken into 
consideration. 
 
Impacts within the Development 
 
It is considered that the proposed layout ensures a satisfactory level of 
privacy and private amenity will be provided for future occupiers. In 
terms of potential overlooking habitable rooms are front and rear facing 
and there are no side facing windows. In terms of potential overbearing 
and overshadowing impacts, the development has been designed to 
allow an acceptable distance between the units to ensure that the 
proposal will have no unacceptable impacts upon future residents. 
 
The parking area to plot 4 shows an Armco barrier within the garden to 
prevent cars accidently manoeuvring into the fence. A condition can be 
imposed to ensure this safety feature is installed prior to the first 
beneficial use of plot 4. 
 
Noise 
 
In terms of noise during construction, the proposed development is 
located within a dense residential area, as such it is considered that the 

Page 24



construction method statement condition would address such concerns, 
including a need for working times to be restricted to sociable hours to 
ensure disruption is minimised. It is therefore considered that the 
proposed scheme would safeguard the residential amenities of future 
occupiers.  
 
Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety 
 
The proposed plans show that the 3 of the 4 dwellings will have direct 
access onto Tabernacle Terrace, with plot 4 having access from the 
existing highway access to the site. Each dwelling will have 3 off street 
parking space and plot 4 will have a turning facility so that vehicles can 
leave and enter the site in a forward gear. 
 
The Highways Officer has no objection, however have made some 
recommendation which include the need to improve the visibility of the 
existing access onto Tabernacle Terrace; improve its surface, drainage 
and the pedestrian steps. They also require improvements to the 
existing footway along Tabernacle Terrace and ensuring pedestrian 
vision splays are provided; to  ensure the driveways are surfaced in a 
porous materials or to direct surface water run off away from the public 
highway and to provide a Construction Method Statement and structural 
calculation for the proposed retaining wall. All these recommendations 
can be imposed via suitably worded conditions.  
 
In relation the concerns of construction/delivery traffic entering the site 
and being a conflict with school children as it is part of the main footpath 
leading to Cwmafan School which is a safe route. The safe route to 
schools is located to the North East (as identified on Plan 4 below) 
and is not affected by the application site. The other route is not the 
safe route children are meant to take. Nevertheless a construction 
method statement would be required by condition and as part of 
this we would require timings for construction and deliveries 
traffic, where we could ensure this did not conflict with school drop 
off and pick up times. 
 

Page 25



 Plan 3: Plan showing locations of school and safe route 

 
 
 
In relation to the area being congested, the parking provision 
provided as part of this application complies with the Parking 
Standards SPG which requires 1 space per bedroom.  
 
In relation to children having to walk on the road because cars are 
parked on the pavement. Car being parked on pavements is not a 
material planning consideration and would be a matter for police. 
 
In relation to School Buses being obstructed by vehicles. Buses being 
obstructed by cars parked on the road is not a material planning 
consideration, this development provides sufficient off street 
parking provision. 
 
A concern has been raised that the 4 Three bedded homes could each 
have 4 cars meaning another 16 vehicles with already very limited 
alternative parking available in the area. The proposed dwelling each 

Page 26



have 3 spaces which is in accordance with the current parking 
SPG. 
 
In relation to the concerns of cars accessing off Tabernacle Terrace 
including restricted views. The existing access is considered to be 
highway and could be utilised today with no improvements; 
however the highways officer has recommended improvements to 
this access which will improve highway and pedestrian safety. In 
terms of the new access, Tabernacle Terrace is not a classified 
road and therefore the creation of these accesses on this road 
would be acceptable subject to the appropriate pedestrian vision 
splays which can be provided and imposed via a condition. 
  
In response to future occupiers not always using the proposed parking 
and parking on the road, especially when laden with shopping bags. 
Unfortunately we cannot make people use their off street parking 
provision; we can only ensure the development is provided with 
sufficient off street parking which this does 
  
When exiting from the site, vehicles would be coming out onto quite a 
busy road and with restricted view of traffic coming down Tabernacle 
Terrace. 
As stated earlier the highways section have required conditions 
relating to vision spays, however they have no objection to the 
proposal 
  
  
Having regard to the above, it is considered that there are no highway 
safety objections to the development 
 
Drainage 
 
As part of the application the applicant has shown they intend to use 
soakaways which will be positioned within the rear garden areas. Foul 
sewerage would be connected to the mains sewerage system. 
 
Surface Water  
 
The Head of Engineering and Transport (drainage) have advised that 
whilst the applicant has provided some details with regards to drainage 
(showing that they intend to dispose of water via soakaways), they have 
advised that more information is required for them to fully assess the 

Page 27



proposal. As such they have recommended a condition requesting 
further information. This can be imposed via a suitably worded condition. 
 
Welsh Water has advised that they note that foul and surface water 
drainage detail has been shown. Surface water will enter into each 
dwellings individual soakaway. They are therefore satisfied the applicant 
does not intend to connect surface water into the public sewerage 
system. A condition can be imposed to ensure this. 
 
Sewerage 
 
A neighbour has stated that there are issues with the sewers to the 
existing properties which Welsh Water are aware of, however Welsh 
Water has not indicated any issues with these dwellings connecting to 
the sewer, however they have recommended that no surface water 
connects to the sewer which as stated earlier can be imposed by a 
condition 
 
Water Supply 

 
Welsh Water has previouslyadvised that the proposed development is 
crossed by a 3 inch distribution water main, the plan shows the main to 
be in the  road at the front of the site (Tabernacle Terrace) and the lane 
to the rear. There is a non-operational main the crosses the existing 
access road near to the steps. Welsh Water has advised a 3m easement 
is required to the main. It is considered the development would not 
infringe upon this, nevertheless the applicant will be made aware of the 
position of the main and a condition imposed in relation to the easement 
zone. 
 
Ecology 
 
The site had been cleared of any vegetation prior to the application 
being submitted however prior to this the site would have been bird 
breeding and foraging habitat, as such the local Authority’s ecologist has 
recommend that bird boxes are installed on dwelling to compensate for 
the loss of this habitat, details of landscaping to be provided and 
invasive species eradicated from site. These recommendations can be 
imposed via a suitably worded condition. 
 

Page 28



Land Contamination 
 
The site is within a former tin plate works and therefore there is a high 
potential for contamination.  The Local Authority’s Land Contamination 
section have advised that the environmental search that has been 
submitted with this application is not a risk assessment as required for 
the assessment of contaminated land. As such they have recommended 
standard land contamination condition, Natural Resources Wales have 
advised likewise As such it is considered that these can be imposed via 
suitably worded conditions. 
 
In response to a neighbour being concerned that radon gas would be 
released during construction and be a health risk. The area is classed as 
category 3 which would require basic radon protection. Building control 
would ensure this is implemented. However it should also be noted that 
a large part of Cwmavon falls under this category. 
 
Coal 
 
The site is located within a development high risk area. As such as part 
the applicant has submitted a coal report and a coal mining risk 
assessment. The application site and surrounding area there are coal 
mining features and hazards which need to be considered in relation to 
the determination of this planning application. 
 
The Coal Authority have advised that the geological and mining 
information within the Risk Assessment correctly identifies the two thick 
coal outcrops which could potentially affect the site, but confirms that 
only one of them (Lower Seven Feet/Upper and Lower Five Feet Seam) 
is at a depth, which if worked could implicate on ground stability. 
Accordingly, the report recommendations include for intrusive site 
investigation works, including gas monitoring, prior to development in 
order to establish the exact situation regarding ground conditions and to 
enable appropriate remedial measures to be identified, if necessary.   
 
The Coal Authority concurs with the recommendations. As such a 
condition can be imposed to ensure that intrusive site investigation 
works, including ground gas monitoring are undertaken.  
 

Page 29



Section 106 Planning Obligations 
 
Local Development Plan Policy SP 4 (Infrastructure) states that 
“Developments will be expected to make efficient use of existing 
infrastructure and where required make adequate provision for new 
infrastructure, ensuring that there are no detrimental effects on the area 
and community. Where necessary, Planning Obligations will be sought 
to ensure that the effects of developments are fully addressed in order to 
make the development acceptable”. 
 
Policy I1 (Infrastructure Requirements) then states that “In addition to 
infrastructure improvements necessary to make a development 
acceptable in health, safety and amenity terms, additional works or 
funding may be required to ensure that, where appropriate, the impact of 
new development is mitigated. These requirements will include 
consideration of and appropriate provision for: Affordable housing; Open 
space and recreation facilities; Welsh language infrastructure (in 
language Sensitive Areas); Community facilities including community 
hubs; Biodiversity, environmental and conservation interests; Improving 
access to facilities and services including the provision of walking and 
cycling routes; Historic and built environment and public realm 
Improvements; Community and public transport; Education and training. 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 came into force on 
6th April 2010 in England and Wales. They introduced limitations on the 
use of planning obligations (Reg. 122 refers). As of 6th April 2010, a 
planning obligation may only legally constitute a reason for granting 
planning permission if it is:  
 
(a)  necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  
(b)  directly related to the development; and  
(c)  fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  
 
In this case, the proposal relates to a planning application for the 
development of 4 residential units. 
 
In view of the type and form of development proposed in this location, 
having regard to local circumstances and needs arising from the 
development, the following planning obligations are considered 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms and to 
meet the policy and legislative tests for planning obligations. 
 

Page 30



Affordable Housing 
 
Policy AH1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan states that 
all new housing developments will be required to contribute to affordable 
housing provision. Within the Port Talbot spatial area, a 25% affordable 
housing target is sought.  
 
Policy AH1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan states that 
all new housing developments will be required to contribute to affordable 
housing provision. Within the Port Talbot / Neath spatial area, a 25% 
affordable housing target is sought.  
 
However due to the extra costs to develop this site the applicant has 
submitted a viability assessment which has been assessed by the Local 
Authority and it was concluded that the site is unviable to provide a full 
affordable housing contribution. Nevertheless, the viability assessment 
has determined that £14,500 could be made available as part of this 
scheme. The developer will be required to sign a Section 106 Legal 
Agreement  
 
Education 
 
The development falls below the threshold of a minimum of 10 housing 
units that are of 2 or more bedrooms. 
 
Public Open Space / Children’s Play Facilities 
 
Policy OS1 states where there is a quantitative deficiency in outdoor 
sport, children’s play, informal space or allotments, provision will be 
sought, including the requirement for maintenance in conjunction with all 
new residential developments of 3 or more dwellings, based on the 
following standards:  
 

Open Space Standard 
Outdoor Sport 1.6 hectares per 1.000 population 
Children’s Play 0.25 hectares per 1,000 population 
Informal Space 0.55 hectares per 1,000 population 
Allotments 0.19 hectares per 1,000 population 

 
Having regard to the ‘Open Space Assessment 2013, produced in 
support of the adopted Local Development Plan, it is noted that there are 
existing ward shortfalls. Accordingly, the existing deficiencies would be 
exacerbated by the increase in population arising from the proposed 

Page 31



development, and there is a need for the development to contribute 
towards addressing such a deficiency.  
 
The below table, details the requirements provided and what needs to 
be secured: 
 

4 Units 
Open space 
requirement 

(sq. m) 

Open space 
‘On-site’ 

Provision 
(sq. m) 

Open space 
‘Off-site’ 
Financial 

Contribution 
OUTDOOR SPORT 

PITCH 
105 0 £1136 

OUTDOOR 
SPORT-NON 

PITCH 

41 
0 

£4,120 

CHILDREN’S PLAY 23 0 £3420 
ALLOTMENTS 17 0 £192 

TOTALS   £8,868 
 
 
In accordance with Policy I1, the Local Planning Authority have to take 
into account the financial viability of the proposal and the costs of the 
new and development, and where necessary the Authority will require 
developers to make available financial information to demonstrate the 
levels of viability of a particular development. As stated earlier the 
applicant has undertaken a viability assessment which clearly shows the 
development can only provide a total contribution of £14,500, however 
the applicant has agreed that should an affordable housing scheme not 
be identified within the 1st 4 years then the money could be spent on 
open space provision. 
 
Other Matters 
 
As identified earlier in this report, representations were received in 
response following the publicity exercise. In response to the issues 
raised which have not been addressed elsewhere in this report, the 
following comments are made: 
 
In relation to the trees being felled; no trees on this site were 
protected as such permission was not required for their felling. 
Felling trees does not constitute development. 
 

Page 32



In relation to neighbours’ concerns that within the planning application 
only mention 1 property being built. This application is for 4 dwelling, 
the neighbour was contacted and advised of this.  
In relation to there being no vehicular access from Tabernacle Terrace.  
3 dwelling will have new accesses and 1 will use the existing 
access off Tabernacle Terrace, the objector has been contacted in 
relation to this 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
The decision to recommend granting planning permission has been 
taken in accordance with Section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, in determining a planning 
application the determination must be in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
It is considered that the redevelopment of this site will contribute towards 
the delivery of housing within the County Borough in a sustainable 
location, and that subject to the imposition of conditions and the signing 
of a Legal Agreement to secure a financial contribution towards 
affordable housing. The proposed development would have no 
unacceptable impacts upon the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area, on residential amenity or on highway and pedestrian 
safety.  Accordingly, the proposed development is considered to accord 
Policies SP1, SP2, SP3, SP4, SP8, SP10, SP15, SP16, SP20, SP21, 
SC1, SC2, I1, AH1, OS1 EN7, EN8, TR2,  and BE1 of the Neath Port 
Talbot Local Development Plan, and National Guidance in Planning 
Policy Wales (Edition 9) 2016 TANs 2,5,11,12,16 and 18 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approval subject to conditions and the signing of a Section 106 Legal 
Agreement covering the following general Heads of Terms:- 
 

• Financial Contribution of £14,500 towards affordable housing 
provision or if no such scheme is identified within the first 4 years, 
the money can be then spent upon the provision of open space 
within the ward of  Bryn and Cwmavon. 

 

Page 33



CONDITIONS 
 
Time Limit Conditions 
 
(1)The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of five years from the date of this permission. 
Reason 
To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
  
Approved Plans 
  
(2) The application shall be built in accordance with the following plans 
and documents: 
 
Location plan 
Ground floor plots 1 to 4 
First floor plots 1 and 2 
First floor plots 3 and 4 
Proposed elevations plot 1 
Proposed elevations plot 2 
Proposed elevations plot 3 
Proposed elevations plot 4 
WE/TTC/17/A01  B Site Layout 
WE/TTC/17/A02  0 Exiting sections A-A to H-H  
WE/TTC/17/A03  0 Proposed Sections A-A to H-H 
 
Reason  
In the interest of clarity 
  
Pre-Commencement Conditions 
  
(3) Prior to the commencement of work on the foundations for the 
dwellings hereby approved, the following  works (as set out within the 
report/letter dated 3rd November 2017 by SPR Hooper Consulting Civil 
and Structural Engineers) shall be undertaken on site: -  
 
• Remove all vegetation and loose blocks from the head of the 

structure; 
• Clean out the weep holes at the base; 
• Repointing of the joints where required to small areas; 
• Repair the top of the wall to present an even surface. 
 

Page 34



Reason 
To ensure stability of the existing retaining wall in the interest of highway 
and pedestrian safety, and visual amenity. 
  
(4) No development shall commence until  a scheme to assess the 
nature and extent of any contamination on the site, and confirmation of 
whether or not it originates on the site shall be submitted to and agreed 
in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons in accordance 
with the following document:- Land Contamination: A Guide for 
Developers (WLGA, WAG & EAW, July 2006) and shall be submitted as 
a written report which shall include:  
 
(i)  A desk top study to identify all previous uses at the site and 
potential contaminants associated with those uses and the impacts from 
those contaminants on land and controlled waters.  The desk study shall 
establish a ‘conceptual site model’ (CSM) identifying all plausible 
pollutant linkages to be assessed.  
  
(ii) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;  
 
(iii)  an assessment of the potential risks to:  
• human health,  
• ground waters and surface waters  
• adjoining land,  
• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, 
pets, woodland and service lines and pipes,  
• ecological systems,  
• archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  
 
(iv) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred 
remedial option(s). 
Reason 
To ensure that information provided for the assessment of the risks from 
land contamination to the future users of the land, neighbouring land, 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems is sufficient to enable 
a proper assessment. 
  
(5) No development shall commence  until a remediation scheme to 
bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing 
any unacceptable risks to human health, buildings, other property and 
the natural and historical environment shall be prepared and submitted 
to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 

Page 35



shall include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation 
objectives, remediation criteria and site management procedures. The 
measures proposed within the remediation scheme shall be 
implemented in accordance with an agreed programme of works.  
 
Reason  
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that 
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 
  
(6) No development shall commence until full details, including structural 
calculations for any retaining structure within 4.5m of the highway 
(including footway) have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. Such details shall ensure that any such 
retaining structure is designed in accordance with Eurocode 7.  
Reason 
In the interest of highways and pedestrian safety and residential and 
visual amenity 
  
(7) Notwithstanding Dwg WE/TTC/17/A01 Rev B prior to work 
commencing on site a scheme shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by  the Local Planning Authority detailing footway 
improvements fronting onto Tabernacle Terrace, which shall be in line 
with the Authority’s Guide to the Layout of Development Roads and in 
accordance with Specification for the Construction of Roads for 
Adoption.  Such footway improvement works shall be implemented as 
approved prior to first occupation of any dwelling unit hereby approved. 
Reason 
In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety. 
  
(8) No development shall take place, until a Construction Method 
Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority. The Construction method statement shall be made in 
accordance with the requirements of British Standard BS5228-1:2009 -  
Code of practice for noise and vibration control on construction and open 
sites.  The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
demolition and construction phases. The Statement shall provide for: 
 
i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
ii. Loading and unloading of plant and materials 

Page 36



iii. Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 
development 
iv. The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including 
decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate 
v. wheel washing facilities to prevent deposition of material onto any 
hard surface road.  
Vi. Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during 
construction 
vii. Measures to prevent stacking of vehicles onto the public highway. 
Viii. A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 
demolition and construction works 
ix. A method statement showing the route of construction traffic to 
and from the development  
x. Identification of the significant construction and demolition noise 
sources, detailing the physical and operational management controls 
necessary to mitigate emissions from these noise sources, as well as 
noise complaint investigation procedures. 
Xi. Xiii. Hours of working on site, and specified  hours for deliveries 
and any elements of the construction that could lead to amenity issues 
from noise and disturbance to adjoining properties 
xii. Hours of deliveries and construction vehicles to ensure these do 
not conflict with school drop off and pick up times 
 
The Statement shall be signed by a competent person(s). 
 
Reason:  To protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people 
living and/or working nearby, in accordance with Local Planning Policy 
and in the interest of highway and pedestrian safety 
  
(9) Prior to the commencement of works on site the following shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; 
 
I. The submission of a scheme of intrusive site investigations/gas 

monitoring for approval; 
II. The undertaking of that scheme of intrusive site investigations/gas 

monitoring; 
III. The submission of a report of findings arising from the intrusive 

site investigations/gas monitoring; 
IV. The submission of a scheme of remedial works/mitigation for 

approval; and 
V. Implementation of that remedial work/mitigation. 
 

Page 37



Reason: 
In order to confirm the need for remedial works to treat any areas of 
shallow mine workings to ensure the safety and stability of the proposed 
development 
  
Action Conditions 
  
(10) No dwelling shall be occupied until surface water and foul drainage 
works  have been implemented in accordance with details that have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. Before these details are submitted, an assessment shall be 
carried out of the site potential for disposing of surface water by means 
of a sustainable drainage system, and the results of the assessment 
provided to the local planning authority. Where a sustainable drainage 
scheme is to be provided, the submitted details shall: 
 
i. Provide information about the design storm period and intensity, 

the method employed to delay and control the surface water 
discharged from the site  and the measures taken to prevent 
pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface waters; 

ii. Ensure that proper drainage of any adjoining land is not interrupted 
or adversely affected 

iii. Include a period for its implementation; and 
iv. Provide a management and maintenance plan of the development 

which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public 
authority or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements to 
secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime. 

Reason 
To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to 
protect the health and safety of existing residents and ensure no 
pollution of or detriment to the environment. 
  
(11) Notwithstanding the  submitted plans, prior to the commencement of 
work on Plot 1 a scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority, detailing the enclosure of the northern 
boundary (including any details of remedial / clearance works proposed 
to the adjoining parcel of land next to the access steps). The works as 
agreed shall be fully implemented as agreed prior to the first beneficial 
occupation of plot 1, or in accordance with such other timescale as may 
be agreed in the approved scheme. 
Reason 
In the interest of visual amenity 
  

Page 38



(12) Prior to any works vehicles gaining access to or from the proposed 
vehicular access for plot 4, the following works shall be undertaken in 
accordance with a scheme which shall first have been submitted to and 
approved in writing to the local planning Authority: -  
i. visibility improvements onto Tabernacle Terrace 
ii. Surfacing improvements  along the public highway to include 

surface water drainage and overgrowth clearance. 
iii. Improvements to the existing steps 
Reason 
To improve highway and pedestrian safety by providing the surface, 
drainage and visibility of the existing access and steps. 
  
(13) Notwithstanding the details submitted, prior to the occupation of any 
dwelling hereby approved a scheme detailing the proposed means of 
enclosure to all property and parking area boundaries shall  be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Details of the following shall be included: 
i. The front boundary (this should consist of a low level wall, which 

may include a railing on top provided it does not interfere with any 
pedestrian vision splays) 

ii. Details and finish of any retaining structures within and on the 
boundary of the development. 

iii. Details of the Armco vehicle barrier to plot 4   
iv. Details and colour and type of fencing to be provided. 
v. Details of any balustrading or barriers 
The means of enclosure shall be provided in accordance with the agreed 
scheme prior to the occupation of any associated dwelling, and retained 
as such thereafter. 
Reason 
in the interest of visual and residential amenity 
  
(14) Prior to the occupation of any dwelling  a scheme for the 
landscaping of the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The details required in connection with this 
condition  shall include full details of hard and soft landscaping scheme  
and shall include:  
i) Hard surfacing materials and finish of any drives parking areas and 
patios;  
ii) Planting schemes within the front gardens, the strip between the 
approved rear enclosure and boundary of the site along the top of the 
wall to the rear boundary, and along the existing driveway to plot 4, 
which shall include species, planting densities and sizes at time of 

Page 39



planting, including wildlife friendly species and those that will promote 
habitat creation.  
The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented within the 
first planting season following completion of the development, any trees 
or plants which within a period of five years from the completion of the 
residential development die, are removed or become seriously damaged 
or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of 
similar size and the same species, unless the Local Planning Authority 
gives written consent to any variation 
Reason  
In the interest of visual amenity and to accord with Section 197 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
  
(15) In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying 
out the approved development that was not previously identified, work 
on site shall cease immediately and shall be reported in writing to the 
Local Planning Authority. A Desk Study, Site Investigation, Risk 
Assessment and where necessary a Remediation Strategy must be 
undertaken in accordance with the following document:- Land 
Contamination: A Guide for Developers (WLGA, WAG & EAW, July 
2006). This document shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority. Prior to occupation of the development, a 
verification report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the agreed 
remediation, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
Reason 
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that 
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other off site receptors. 
  
(16) Prior to beneficial use of the proposed development commencing, a 
verification report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the agreed 
remediation works carried out in accordance with condition 5 shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason 
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that 

Page 40



the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 
  
(17) Prior to occupation of the dwellings hereby permitted, an artificial 
nesting site for birds shall be provided on two dwellings to one of the 
following specifications, and retained as such thereafter; 
Nest Box Specifications for House Sparrow Terrace: 
Wooden (or woodcrete) nest box with 3 sub-divisions to support 3 
nesting pairs. To be placed under the eaves of buildings. 
Entrance holes: 32mm diameter 
Dimensions: H310 x W370 x D185mm 
or 
Swift Nest Box Specification: 
Wide box with small slit shaped entrance hole. Must be placed under or 
close to roofs, at least 5m from the ground. 
Dimensions: H150 x W340 x D150mm 
Reason 
In the interest of Biodiversity. 
  
(18) Notwithstanding the submitted details and prior to their use in the 
development hereby approved samples of the materials to be used in 
the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby 
permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the proposed details.  
Reason: 
In the interests of visual amenity of the area. 
  
(19) Prior to the first beneficial use of any dwelling, a methodology for 
the control and eradication of any Invasive non native species on site 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The invasive non native species shall be eradicated in 
accordance with the agreed details. 
Reason 
In the interest of ecology and to ensure Invasive non native species on 
site are eradicated 
  
Regulatory Conditions 
  
(20) No surface water and/or land drainage shall be allowed to connect 
directly or indirectly with the public sewerage network.   
Reason 

Page 41



To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to 
protect the health and safety of existing residents and ensure no 
pollution of or detriment to the environment. 
  
(21) Notwithstanding Dwg WE/TTC/17/A01  Rev B  no soakaway shall 
be constructed within 5 metres of the existing retaining wall unless 
otherwise agreed under condition 10. 
Reason 
In the interest of structural stability of the retaining wall 
  
(22) No structure is to be sited within a distance of 3 meters from the 
centre line of the water main. 
Reason 
To protect the water main 
  
(23) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended for Wales) 
(or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification) there shall be :- 
 
• No extension or external alteration to any building forming part of 

the development hereby permitted, including insertion of any new 
doors, windows or dormer windows (other than those expressly 
authorised by this permission) (Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B & 
C) 

• No provision of any building or enclosure or raised platform 
(Schedule 2, Part 1, Class E) 

• no fences, gates or walls shall be erected within the curtilage of 
any dwelling house forward of the principal elevation of that 
dwelling house. (Schedule 2, Part 2, Class A) 

 
without the prior grant of planning permission in that behalf.   
Reason 
In order to safeguard the amenities of the area by enabling the Local 
Planning Authority to consider whether planning permission should be 
granted for extensions and alterations, having regard to visual and 
residential amenity 
  
(24)Prior to the occupation of plots 3 and 4 the triangular oriel type 
windows on the first floor rear elevation serving the bedrooms  shall be 
glazed with obscured glass in accordance with drawings entitled 
[proposed elevations plot 3 and proposed elevations plot 4] and retained 
as such thereafter . 

Page 42



Reason   
In the interest of the amenities of the adjoining property and the safety of 
the occupiers of the applicant dwelling. 
  
(25) The  proposed driveways to each dwelling shall be constructed in 
accordance with Drawing WE/TTC/17A01 B  and  surfaced in porous 
material, or provision must be made to direct run-off water from the hard 
surface, to a permeable porous area or  surface within the curtilage of 
the dwelling to a maximum gradient of 1 in 12, with no surface water 
allowed to flow out onto the public highway prior to the first use of any 
dwelling and maintained as such thereafter. 
Reason 
In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety. 
  
(26) Notwithstanding the submitted layout plan each vehicular access 
point for plots 1, 2 and 3 shall have a pedestrian vision splay of 2.4 
metres by 2.4 metre each side of each vehicular access point measured 
back from back edge of  footpath within which nothing over 600mm 
shall be erected or allowed to grow  which shall be retained as such 
thereafter. 
Reason in the interest of highway and pedestrian safety 
  

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION B – MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 
 
DELEGATED APPLICATIONS  
DETERMINED BETWEEN 5TH DECEMBER 2017 AND  
8TH JANUARY 2018 
 

1     App No.  P2017/0296 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Retention of storage containers to facilitate the 
operation of a 32X 199KW, wood chip fed biomass boiler system 
with a max output of 6368kw, together with wood storage area, 
and wood chipping area 
Location  Unit 3, Kenfig Industrial Estate,  Margam, Port Talbot 
SA13 2PE 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Margam 

 

2     App No.  P2017/0544 Type Advertisement  
Proposal Replacement of 2 no. internally illuminated fascia signs 
and 2 No. internally illuminated projecting signs. 
Location  1-3 Green Street,  Neath SA11 1DR 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Neath North 

 

3     App No.  P2017/0798 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Detached dwelling, detached garage and associated 
works 
Location  Plot Adjacent To, 2 Clos Afallon,  Gwaun Cae Gurwen, 
Ammanford SA18 1HH 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Gwaun-Cae-Gurwen 

 

4     App No.  P2017/0839 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Two no. detached two storey dwellings (Amendments 
to dwellings approved under applications P2009/0471 and 
P2014/1007) 
Location  Land Adjacent to, Cook Rees Avenue,  Cimla, Neath  
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Neath South 

 

 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 5



5     App No.  P2017/0855 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Installation of 20m high monopole, supporting 3 No. 
Antenna, 2 No. 300mm dishes, plus associated ground based 
equipment cabinets and ancillary development. 
Location  Land at Longford Farm, Longford Road,  Bryncoch, 
Neath SA10 7AZ 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Dyffryn 

 

6     App No.  P2017/0926 Type Householder  
Proposal Single storey side extension plus alterations to the roof 
to include two dormers to each roof plane. 
Location  10 Crymlyn Parc,  Skewen, Neath SA10 6DG 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Coedffranc West 

 

7     App No.  P2017/0955 Type Change of Use  
Proposal Change of use of basement to shop storage and first 
floor to community shop and community café 
Location  72 Commercial Street,  Ystalyfera, Swansea SA9 2HS 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Ystalyfera 

 

8     App No.  P2017/0965 Type Non Material 
Amendment (S96A)  

Proposal Non-material amendment to Planning Permission 
P2017/563 (Welsh medium secondary school) to amend wording 
to condition 6 protection of retained habitats, condition 19 artificial 
nesting sites, condition 22 control of invasive species and condition 
23 landscape plan. 
Location  Sandfields Comprehensive School, Southdown View,  
Sandfields, Port Talbot SA12 7AH 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Sandfields West 

 

9     App No.  P2017/0984 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Detached 4 bedroom dwelling 
Location  Land Adjacent To, 126 Neath Road,  Rhos 
Pontardawe, Swansea SA8 3HB 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Rhos 

 

Page 46



10     App No.  P2017/0993 Type App under TPO  
Proposal Works to trees protected under Tree Preservation 
Order T237 and T237 T1 and T2 -  1 No. ash T275 fell, 1no. Oak 
T278 fell, 1no. Oak T279 has fallen and will be removed, 1 No. oak 
T282 raise crown to 4 metres above car park, 1no. Oak T284 
remove small broken branch,  1no. Oak T285 fell, 1no. Sycamore 
T287 fell. 
Location  Land Adjoining Cooperative, Main Road,  Bryncoch, 
Neath SA10 7TW 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Bryncoch North 

 

11     App No.  P2017/0998 Type Discharge of Cond.
  

Proposal Details pursuant condition 3 (lighting) and 4 (Ecological 
report) of Planning Permission P2017/0620 approved on 
September 15th 2017 
Location  Lot 7, Baglan Energy Park, Brunel Way,  Briton Ferry 
SA11 2GA 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Briton Ferry West 

 

12     App No.  P2017/1013 Type Discharge of Cond.
  

Proposal Details to be agreed in association with conditions 3 
(Finished Floor Levels), 4 (Demolition Method Statement), 5 
(Drainage details), 6 (Material Samples) and 7 (Structural survey of 
Boundary Wall) of planning application P2017/0491 granted 5 Oct 
2017. 
Location  Ysgol Gynradd Pontrhydyfen, School Street,  
Pontrhydyfen, Port Talbot SA12 9SZ 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Bryn & Cwmavon 

 

13     App No.  P2017/1014 Type Change of Use  
Proposal Change of use of first and attic floors from business 
(B1) to a self-contained flat (C3) 
Location  19 Victoria Gardens,  Neath SA11 3AY 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Neath North 

 

 

Page 47



14     App No.  P2017/1015 Type Vary Condition  
Proposal Variation of condition 5 (slab levels) of Planning 
Permission P2017/0104 approved on 17/03/2017 to remove the 
requirement to increase the slab levels 
Location  Bush Row,  Neath SA11 2EB 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Neath East 

 

15     App No.  P2017/1016 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Change of use of land and construction of ménage 
associated with existing commercial use plus increase existing 
commercial livery use from 10 to 14 horses. 
Location  Oak Tree Farm, Drummau Road,  Skewen, Neath 
SA10 6NR 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Coedffranc North 

 

16     App No.  P2017/1018 Type App under TPO  
Proposal Works to tree protected by Tree Preservation Order 
T283/T1 - works comprising of a 3 metres crown reduction to 1 No. 
Oak Tree T1. 
Location  4 Derwen Deg,  Bryncoch, Neath SA10 7FP 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Bryncoch South 

 

17     App No.  P2017/1024 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Construction of community centre including on site car 
parking, landscaping and associated works 
Location  St Marys Church, Compton Road,  Skewen, Neath  
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Coedffranc Central 

 

18     App No.  P2017/1025 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Proposed detached ancillary storage building for use 
by allotments with solar panels on roof 
Location  Glynneath Allotments, Llewellyn Street,  Glynneath, 
Neath SA11 5AE 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Glynneath 

 

 

Page 48



19     App No.  P2017/1030 Type App under TPO  
Proposal Works to trees protected by Tree Preservation Order 
T237/W1 comprising of felling of 1 No. Willow and a crown 
reduction of 2.5 metres to a group of trees comprising of 1 No. 
Sycamore, 6 No. Alder and 4 No Ash Trees. 
Location  Land to the rear of, 27 Furzeland Drive,  Bryncoch 
SA10 7UF 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Bryncoch North 

 

20     App No.  P2017/1031 Type Householder  
Proposal Extension to existing garage 
Location  The 'Water Mill' Barn, Eglwys Nunnydd,  Margam, Port 
Talbot SA13 2PS 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Margam 

 

21     App No.  P2017/1035 Type Householder  
Proposal Garage conversion to living accommodation with 
replacement parking. 
Location  7 Crymlyn Gardens,  Skewen, Neath SA10 6EU 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Coedffranc West 

 

22     App No.  P2017/1040 Type App under TPO  
Proposal Felling of one Chestnut tree protected by Tree 
Preservation Order T44/A1 
Location  3 Blaenwern, Penywern Road , Bryncoch, Neath SA10 
7AN 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Bryncoch South 

 

23     App No.  P2017/1041 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Temporary two storey  modular office facility and 
ancillary works 
Location  Swansea University Bay Campus, Fabian Way,  
Crymlyn Burrows, SA1 8EN 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Coedffranc West 

 

 

Page 49



24     App No.  P2017/1042 Type Advertisement  
Proposal Illuminated advertisement sign around ATM 
Location  21 Green Street,  Neath SA11 1DH 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Neath North 

 

25     App No.  P2017/1043 Type App under TPO  
Proposal Works to trees protected by Tree Preservation Order 
T21/W8 - 3 metre crown reduction to 3No. Oak trees T1, T2 & T3. 
Location  Land to the rear of, 25 to 29 Glannant Way,  Cimla, 
Neath SA11 3YA 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Cimla 

 

26     App No.  P2017/1044 Type Householder  
Proposal Single storey front extension to garage incorporating 
porch, plus new gable roof and rear extension to garage 
Location  213 Western Avenue,  Sandfields, Port Talbot SA12 
7NE 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Sandfields West 

 

27     App No.  P2017/1045 Type Change of Use  
Proposal Change of use of former Bank to residential dwelling. 
Location  Former HSBC Bank, Station Road,  Cymmer, Port 
Talbot SA13 3HR 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Cymmer 

 

28     App No.  P2017/1046 Type Householder  
Proposal Enclose existing porch, plus single storey extension 
with decked area. 
Location  3 Leiros Parc Drive,  Bryncoch, Neath SA10 7EW 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Bryncoch South 

 

29     App No.  P2017/1047 Type Prior Notif.Demol. 
Proposal Prior Approval of the Demolition Method Statement for 
Bethania Chapel (as required by Prior Notification application 
P2017/0994). 
Location  Seion Bethania Baptist Chapel, Salem Road,  
Cwmavon, Port Talbot  
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Bryn & Cwmavon 

 

Page 50



30     App No.  P2017/1048 Type Discharge of Cond. 
Proposal Details pursuant to the partial discharge of Conditions 7 
(post construction noise verification reports) for plots 54 and 55, 
discharge of Condition 8 (Noise reduction methods to gardens), 
and 10 (ground contamination verification report) of Planning 
Permission P2015/0158 (Residential development for 27 
dwellings) approved on the 19th January 2017 
Location  land off, Crymlyn Road,  Skewen, SA10 6DT 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Coedffranc West 

 

31     App No.  P2017/1056 Type Householder  
Proposal Replacement window to facilitate garage conversion 
Location  9 Royston Court,  Waunceirch, Neath SA10 7PY 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Bryncoch South 

 

32     App No.  P2017/1057 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Change of use from 4 bedroom dwelling to 4 bedroom 
HMO 
Location  177A Neath Road,  Briton Ferry, Neath SA11 2BX 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Briton Ferry East 

 

33     App No.  P2017/1062 Type Vary Condition  
Proposal Variation of condition 3 of planning permission 
P2017/0722 approved on 23rd August 2017 with regard to opening 
hours (Business open to customers until 18:00 customers can 
remain on the premises until 19:00) 
Location  7 Swanfield,  Ystalyfera, Swansea SA9 2JD 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Ystalyfera 

 

34     App No.  P2017/1065 Type Discharge of Cond. 
Proposal Details pursuant to the discharge of Condition 3 (reptile 
method statement) and partial discharge of condition 5 
(archaeologist details) of Planning Permission P2013/0108 
approved on 17th May 2017 
Location  Margam Park,  Margam, Port Talbot  
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Margam 

 

Page 51



35     App No.  P2017/1066 Type App under TPO  
Proposal Works to tree protected by Tree Preservation Order 
T276/T15 - crown reduction of 3-3.5 metres to 1 No. Oak tree 
Location  101 Brookfield,  Neath Abbey, Neath SA10 7EL 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Bryncoch South 

 

36     App No.  P2017/1069 Type Householder  
Proposal Retention and completion of works to an existing 
detached garage block (former sales office building), to provide 
ancillary gym and office use plus external alterations, retaining one 
garage and three off street car parking spaces. 
Location  34 Ocean View,  Jersey Marine, Neath SA10 6JZ 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Coedffranc West 

 

37     App No.  P2017/1070 Type App under TPO  
Proposal Works to trees protected by Tree Preservation Order 
T88/A3 - felling of 3No. Sycamore trees T1, T2 & T3, 
(Retrospective) - Proposed lift canopy of 2No. Sycamore tree T4 & 
T5 by removing two lower branches - lift canopy of group of semi-
mature Sycamore trees G1 & G2 by removing 4 secondary 
branches. 
Location  Garthmor, Old Road,  Neath  
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Neath East 

 

38     App No.  P2017/1071 Type Prior Notif.Demol.
  

Proposal Prior Notification for the demolition of Pontardawe 
Sports Bar 
Location  Pontardawe Sports Bar, 33 Church Street,  
Pontardawe, Swansea SA8 4JB 
Decision      Prior Approval  Not Required 
Ward           Pontardawe 

 

39     App No.  P2017/1079 Type Householder  
Proposal Single storey rear extension 
Location  54 Afandale,  Sandfields, Port Talbot SA12 7BQ 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Sandfields West 

 

Page 52



40     App No.  P2017/1082 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Proposed classroom extension 
Location  Ysgol Gynradd Y Gnoll, Wellfield Avenue,  Neath 
SA11 1AQ 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Neath East 

 

41     App No.  P2017/1086 Type Householder  
Proposal Insertion of Velux type roof lights to rear roof plane 
Location  7 Victoria Gardens,  Neath SA11 3BD 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Neath North 

 

42     App No.  P2017/1088 Type Householder  
Proposal Conversion of integral garage to living accommodation 
Location  39 Rowan Tree Avenue,  Baglan, Port Talbot SA12 
8EZ 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Baglan 

 

43     App No.  P2017/1089 Type Householder  
Proposal First floor front extension 
Location  162 Swansea Road,  Trebanos Pontardawe, Swansea 
SA8 4BU 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Trebanos 

 

44     App No.  P2017/1092 Type LawfulDev.Cert-
Prop.  

Proposal Single storey rear extension - Lawful Development 
Certificate Proposed 
Location  63 Harvey Crescent,  Sandfields, Port Talbot SA12 
6DG 
Decision      Issue Lawful Dev.Cert. 
Ward           Sandfields East 

 

45     App No.  P2017/1095 Type Householder  
Proposal Outbuilding 
Location  26 Nant Celyn,  Crynant, Neath SA10 8PZ 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Crynant 

 

Page 53



46     App No.  P2017/1097 Type Non Material 
Amendment (S96A)  

Proposal Non-material amendment to Planning Permission 
P2014/0222 (545 student beds, gym, sports hall , creche and 
student union, approved on the 25/06/2014) to overclad concrete 
coping to parapet roof with metal cladding, at levels 6 and 7. 
Location  Swansea University Bay Campus, Fabian Way,  
Crymlyn Burrows, SA1 8EN 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Coedffranc West 

 

47     App No.  P2017/1099 Type Householder  
Proposal Part two-storey part single-storey side/rear extensions 
Location  27 Beechwood Road,  Margam, Port Talbot SA13 2AD 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Margam 

 

48     App No.  P2017/1100 Type Householder  
Proposal Part two storey part single storey rear and side 
extensions 
Location  3 Sea Breeze,  Sandfields, Port Talbot SA12 7LY 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Sandfields West 

 

49     App No.  P2017/1104 Type Discharge of Cond.
  

Proposal Details to be agreed in association with condition 20 
(Details of CCTV) of application P2017/0248 granted on 28 June 
2017. 
Location  Former Cwrt Sart Comprehensive School, Old Road,  
Briton Ferry, Neath SA11 2ET 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Briton Ferry East 

 

50     App No.  P2017/1106 Type Non Material 
Amendment (S96A)  

Proposal Non-material amendment to planning application 
P2016/0774 in respect of raising the finished floor level by 200mm 
and minor alterations to garden paths and shed locations 
Location  Land adjacent to 72, Moorland Road,  Sandfields, Port 
Talbot  
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Sandfields East 

 

Page 54



51     App No.  P2017/1108 Type LawfulDev.Cert-
Prop.  

Proposal Lawful Development Certificate (Proposed) for a single 
storey side extension 
Location  78 Main Road,  Bryncoch, Neath SA10 7TL 
Decision      Issue Lawful Dev.Cert. 
Ward           Bryncoch South 

 

52     App No.  P2017/1109 Type Householder  
Proposal Single storey rear extension 
Location  6 Gronow Close,  Court Herbert, Neath SA10 7AD 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Dyffryn 

 

53     App No.  P2017/1111 Type LawfulDev.Cert-
Prop.  

Proposal Certificate of Lawfulness (proposed) - Single storey 
rear extension 
Location  60 Chestnut Road,  Cimla, Neath SA11 3NU 
Decision      Issue Lawful Dev.Cert. 
Ward           Neath South 

 

54     App No.  P2017/1112 Type Householder  
Proposal First floor rear extension 
Location  11 Lon Hir,  Alltwen Pontardawe, Swansea SA8 3DQ 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Alltwen 

 

55     App No.  P2017/1115 Type Non Material 
Amendment (S96A)  

Proposal Non-material amendment of application P2012/0807 to 
allow the repositioning of the garage and turning area. 
Location  The Old Chapel, Pentwyn Road,  Cynonville, Port 
Talbot SA13 3HH 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Cymmer 

 

56     App No.  P2017/1116 Type Householder  
Proposal Two storey rear extension 
Location  20 Seaward Close,  Sandfields, Port Talbot SA12 7LU 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Sandfields East 

 

Page 55



57     App No.  P2017/1117 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Agricultural Barn 
Location  Penhydd Fawr Farm, Neath Road,  Bryn, Port Talbot 
SA13 2RT 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Bryn & Cwmavon 

 

58     App No.  P2017/1123 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Erection of free standing smoking shelter 
Location  Twelve Knights Hotel, Margam Road,  Margam, Port 
Talbot SA13 2DB 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Margam 

 

59     App No.  P2017/1132 Type Householder  
Proposal Part single, part two-storey rear extension 
Location  7 Rheola Avenue,  Resolven, Neath SA11 4HL 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Resolven 

 

60     App No.  P2017/1135 Type Discharge of Cond.
  

Proposal Details to be agreed in association with condition 15 
(External Materials) of planning application P2017/0248 granted on 
28/06/17 
Location  Former Cwrt Sart Comprehensive School, Old Road,  
Llansawel, Castell Nedd SA11 2ET 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Briton Ferry East 

 

61     App No.  P2017/1154 Type Discharge of Cond.
  

Proposal Details to be agreed in association with Condition 3 
(External Materials) of Planning Permission P2017/0935 granted 
on 15/11/17 
Location  Plot 23, Land off Owen Jones Way,  Bryn, Port Talbot 
SA13 2RF 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Bryn & Cwmavon 

 

 

Page 56



62     App No.  P2017/1166 Type Discharge of Cond.
  

Proposal Details to be agreed in association with Condition 29 
(Artificial Nesting Sites) of Planning Application P2016/1022 
granted on 01/02/17 
Location  Groes Primary School & Dyffryn Upper School, Bertha 
Road,  Margam, Port Talbot SA13 2AW 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Margam 

 

63     App No.  P2017/1168 Type Discharge of Cond.
  

Proposal Details pursuant to Condition 12 (External Materials) of 
Planning Permission P2015/0641 granted on 3rd March 2017. 
Location  Former Port Talbot Police Station, Station Road,  Port 
Talbot SA13 1JB 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Port Talbot 

 

64     App No.  P2018/0009 Type LawfulDev.Cert-
Prop.  

Proposal Single storey rear extension - Lawful Development 
Certificate Proposed 
Location  48 Morlais Road,  Margam, Port Talbot SA13 2AT 
Decision      Issue Lawful Dev.Cert. 
Ward           Taibach 

 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION B – MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 

APPEALS RECEIVED 

a) Planning Appeals 
 
Appeal Ref: A2018/0001 Planning Ref: P2016/0929 
 
PINS Ref: APP/Y6930/A/17/3191554 
 
Applicant: Mr. A. Merret 
 
Proposal: Retention and completion of change of use of 

building to 4x4 Vehicle Repair Centre (Use Class 
B2), plus engineering operations and retaining 
works to create 4 parking spaces to rear with 
ramped access. 

 
Site Address: Tyre and Exhaust Centre, Commercial Street, 

Abergwynfi 
 
Start Date: 2nd January 2018 
 
Appeal Method:  Written Representations 
 
 

 

Appeal Ref: A2018/0002 Planning Ref: P2017/0987 
 
PINS Ref: APP/Y6930/A/17/3191935 
 
Applicant: Mr Martin Richards 
 
Proposal: New Detached Dwelling (Outline) 
 
Site Address: 20 Cwrt Yr Eos, Coed Hirwaun 
 
Start Date: 3rd January 2018 
 
Appeal Method:  Written Representations 
 
 

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



 

b) Enforcement Appeals 
 
Appeal Ref: A2018/0003 Planning Ref:  E2016/0150 
 
PINS Ref: APP/Y6930/C/17/3190517 
 
Applicant: Mr Marc O'Mahoney 
 
Alleged Breach:  Erection of an outbuilding outside settlement 

limits, and outside residential curtilage of the 
property 

 
Site Address: Land Adjacent to 7 Taibanc, Tonna, Neath 
 
Start Date: 5th January 2018 
 
Appeal Method:  Written Representations 
 

Page 60



SECTION B – MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 

APPEALS DETERMINED 

a) Planning Appeals 
 
Appeal Ref: A2017/0015 Planning Ref: P2017/0771 
 
PINS Ref: APP/Y6930/D/17/3184669 
 
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Davies 
 
Proposal: Single storey front extension. 
 
Site Address: Brynheulog House, Main Road, Dyffryn Cellwen, 

Neath. 
 
Appeal Method: Written Representations  
 
Decision Date: 2/1/2018  
 
Decision Code: Dismissed 
 
The main issues in respect of this appeal related to the effect of 
the development on the character and appearance of this pair of 
semi-detached dwellings; and on the living conditions of the 
occupiers of Awelfryn with particular regard to outlook and 
overbearing impact. 
 
The Inspector referred to the Council’s ‘Design’ SPG which 
advises that large scale front extensions are usually not 
appropriate, but if circumstances allow, these should be well 
designed to reflect or enhance the existing property.  The SPG 
further advises that front extensions should respect the size and 
proportions of the existing house; respect the architectural 
features, brickwork, stonework, colour and texture of the existing 
house; and not unduly affect neighbouring amenity. 
 
Within this context, he noted that neither the appeal property nor 
the adjoining dwelling have been extended or altered on their front 
elevations and they currently appear as a uniform and aesthetically 
pleasing pair of semi-detached traditional stone cottages. The 
extension would be built over the finished stonework and 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



decorative brickwork and would, therefore, significantly alter its 
appearance to the detriment of the character of both cottages. 
 
As the proposed extension would extend across the whole width of 
the property it would be a prominent addition to the house 
dominating its front elevation. The massing and form of the 
extension would be out of keeping with the parent building 
resulting in an extension that is poorly related to the house. The 
harsh flat roofed design, allied to the scale and massing of the 
extension, would be an incongruous form of development that 
unacceptably disrupts the visual balance of this pair of semi-
detached houses. 
 
In considering the impact on the neighbouring property, he noted 
that the extension would extend approximately 4m, would be 
approximately 2.8m high at its maximum and its side elevation 
would be sited about 1m away from the nearest ground floor 
habitable window. In views from this window the outlook would be 
dominated by a mass of built form in a way that would be 
overbearing and oppressive, with consequence adverse effects on 
the living conditions of the occupants concerned.  
 
For the above reasons, the Inspector concluded that the proposed 
sun room would have a harmful impact on the character and 
appearance of this pair of dwellings and on the living conditions of 
the occupiers of Awelfryn with particular regard to outlook and 
overbearing impact.  
 
The Inspector thus accepted that the proposal does not accord 
with Policy BE1 of the LDP, and in summary felt that the design, 
location and impact would be detrimental to both residential and 
visual amenity. 
 
 

Page 62



Appeal Ref: A2017/0011 Planning Ref: P2017/0512 
 
PINS Ref: APP/Y6930/A/17/3185450 
 
Applicant:  Mr Ieuan Ace on behalf of Resolven AFC 
 
Proposal: Retention of use of part of car park for two 

pitches for the sale of meat and potatoes 
 
Site Address: Resolven AFC, Neath Vale Supplier Park Access 

Road, Resolven, Neath. 
 
Appeal Method: Written Representations  
 
Decision Date: 14/12/2017  
 
Decision Code: Allowed 
 
The main issues in this case concerned the effect of the 
development on the defined retail area of Resolven, and on the 
allocated employment area. 
 
Defined Retail Area 
 
Outside a defined retail centre or allocation but within settlement 
limits, Policy R3 of the LDP permits new retail development or 
additional retail floorspace only if consistent with four criteria. The 
appeal use does not take place in such a location and thus the 
Inspector stated that Policy R3 is not directly applicable, albeit it 
contributes to the general retail strategy of the LDP whose purpose 
is to ensure that retail centres are supported and enhanced as far 
as possible. 
 
The Inspector noted the nearby large indoor market, which was 
granted planning permission for a temporary period in 2012, that 
consent being extended in 2016 to permit the premises’ use for A1 
retail until the beginning of 2021. She was aware of the 
circumstances with regard to the original location of the market.  
 
That market is permitted to take place on Wednesdays, Saturdays 
and Sundays, and she considered it probable that some visitors 
make trips to the appeal use at the same time as the market. In 
comparison with the indoor market, the scale and duration of the 

Page 63



appeal use was thus considered to be modest such that its impact 
on other retail centres is likely to be similarly low key. In that light, 
she considered that the appeal use is not contrary to the thrust of 
Policy R3.  
 
Allocated employment area  
 
The appeal site is within the EC2/16 existing employment area 
designated in the LDP. In accordance with LDP Policy EC3 uses 
on such sites are restricted to those within classes B1, B2 and B8; 
to ancillary facilities or services which support and complement the 
wider role and function of the primary employment use; or to 
commercial services unrelated to class B. It could be argued that 
the appeal use falls within the latter category although the 
explanatory text excludes uses best located in a retail centre. 
 
As the appeal use takes place in close proximity to the indoor 
market, and at a time when that market is trading, the Inspector 
considered it can be sustainably justified in this location. While 
aware of the concerns of the owners of the indoor market, it is not 
the role of the planning system to restrict competition between 
retailers within centres. She therefore gave little weight to any 
conflict between the appeal use and the indoor market or its 
traders.  
 
By reason of its small scale; its mobile and temporary nature; and 
the short duration of the trading period, the appeal use was 
considered to be appropriate in scale and form to the role and 
function of the employment area. Moreover, as it is located on the 
car park of a non-employment use it does not take up land with 
employment potential. The appeal scheme does not, therefore, 
cause any adverse impacts on the overall function of the 
employment area or neighbouring commercial properties, and is 
not significantly at odds with LDP Policy EC3.  
 
Other matters 
 
The Inspector found no evidence that the appeal use has a 
significantly detrimental effect on traffic flow on market days or that 
it jeopardises the highway safety of road users including 
pedestrians, also noting that the Council does not have significant 
concerns with the appeal use on those grounds.  
 

Page 64



The appeal was thus allowed and planning permission granted for 
the use of part of the car park for two pitches for the sale of meat 
and potatoes subject to the following conditions: - 
 
1) The use hereby permitted shall be restricted to pitches for two 
mobile retail units only, located on the plot shown on the submitted 
Location Plan. The retail units shall be removed from the site 
outside of the permitted hours and the site made available for car 
parking.  
2) The use hereby permitted shall be carried out on Saturdays only 
between the hours of 07.00 to 13.30.  
3) The use hereby permitted shall be discontinued on 20th January 
2021 or on the cessation of the use of the indoor market granted 
under P2014/0361 by notice dated 20th January 2016, whichever 
is the sooner.  
 
These are necessary for clarity, to protect the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area, and to ensure that the 
permitted use does not have an adverse impact on defined retail 
areas, particularly when the indoor market ceases to trade. With 
regard to the permitted hours, the decision adheres to the end time 
put forward by the appellant. 
 
b) Enforcement Appeals 
 
Appeal Ref: A2017/0009 Enforcement Ref: E2016/0224 
 
PINS Ref:  APP/Y6930/C/17/3179123 
 
Applicant: Ms Ann Barnet 
 
Alleged Breach: Without planning permission, the erection of a 

rear dormer extension 
 
Site Address:  Land at 18 Bethel Street, Briton Ferry, Neath, 

SA11 2HQ (Britannia Inn) 
 
Appeal Method:  Written Representations 
 
Decision Date:  8th January 2018  
 
Decision: Appeal Dismissed  

Page 65



 
The Enforcement Notice was issued in response to a flat roof 
dormer extension erected on the rear roof slope of the above 
property (used as Britannia Inn Public House at ground floor level, 
with residential accommodation above) without the benefit of 
planning permission. The flat roof dormer extension extends up to 
the ridge height of the main building, incorporates substantial 
proportions and contains windows and a door, with the latter 
opening onto a flat roofed area to the rear of the building. The 
appellant submitted that the development provides additional living 
accommodation in the roof space, specifically referring to it as a 
music room for a disabled daughter 
 
Ground (a) Appeal – The Deemed Planning Application  
 
By reason of its scale, siting and overall design, the Inspector 
considered the dormer extension results in a dominant and visually 
intrusive form of development that injuriously alters the roof form of 
the host property. Such impacts are exacerbated by the siting of 
the property on a corner location between Bethel Street and Sand 
Lane, with the development appearing as a prominent and 
incongruous feature in the street scene.  
 
Although the appellant asserted that the materials used in the 
construction of the dormer extension assist in blending the 
structure into the roof scene, the Inspector stated that it was clear 
at the time of his site visit that the materials used do not match the 
tiles on the main roof and, for this reason, did not satisfactorily 
mitigate the aforementioned impacts. Furthermore, he did not 
consider that such impacts could be effectively mitigated by the 
imposition of planning conditions.  
 
While giving weight to the benefits that the development would 
provide for the appellant given the identified personal 
circumstances, he did not consider these would outweigh the 
‘substantial harm’ identified. 
 
He thus concluded that the development causes material harm to 
the character and appearance of the area, and conflicts with 
Policies SP21 and BE1 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot County 
Borough Council Local Development Plan. It would also conflict 
with the general thrust of the advice contained within the adopted 
‘Design’ Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG).  

Page 66



 
Ground (f) Appeal  
 
An appeal under ground (f) is that the steps required to comply 
with the notice are excessive and that lesser steps would 
overcome the objections.  
 
In this case, the appellant contended that the Local Planning 
Authority should have requested that the size of the dormer be 
reduced in scale in accordance with advice provided at pre-
application stage. However, the Inspector had no details of any 
worked out alternative that includes relevant drawings. 
Notwithstanding this, he also noted that pre-application advice is 
not binding on the authority and, in the absence of any information 
to enable him to undertake a detailed assessment of any 
alternative scheme, was unable to conclude that the options 
discussed at the pre-application stage would represent a suitable 
and viable lesser step.  Therefore he found that the requirements 
of the notice are not excessive, and the appeal on ground (f) also 
failed. 
 
Accordingly, the appeal was dismissed and the Enforcement 
Notice upheld.  

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To receive the Minutes of the previous meeting held on 12 December, 2017
	4 Application No: P2017/1094
	5 Delegated Applications Determined between 5 December 2017 and 8 January 2018
	SECTION B – MATTERS FOR INFORMATION

	6 Appeals Received
	7 Appeals Determined

